THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal  
Acting Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000164  
Circuit Court Case No. 2015-CP-46-3456

RECEIVED

JUN 07 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Timothy W. Howe, Individually and as Personal Representative of  
the Estate of Wayne Erwin Howe, Deceased, and Jeannette Howe ..... Respondents,

v.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

This is an appeal of a sanctions order that arises out of the asbestos docket. Following a defense verdict in Cleaver-Brooks, Inc.'s favor, the trial court sanctioned Cleaver-Brooks and ordered it to pay all of the plaintiffs' attorneys' fees for the entirety of trial, along with all of the plaintiffs' litigation costs and expenses. The sanctions exceed \$300,000. It is a shocking order, and it raises several issues for appellate review:

1. In response to in-trial testimony, Cleaver-Brooks located and produced records to the plaintiffs that same day that entirely disproved a theory of the case that the plaintiffs had never disclosed and had never raised at any point in discovery. Did the trial court err by sanctioning Cleaver-Brooks for not producing in advance of trial materials that were never the subject of any discovery request, deposition question, pretrial motion, or court order, and that had no relevancy to the case before the plaintiffs' in-trial questioning of a third-party witness?
2. Did the plaintiffs waive their objections regarding Cleaver-Brooks's documents by eliciting testimony during their case-in-chief about those documents without objection?
3. Did the trial court err when it relied on Rule 37(b)(2) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure as the jurisdictional basis for its sanctions order when there was never any discovery order in place that Cleaver-Brooks could have possibly violated?
4. Did the trial court err when it ignored the plaintiffs' counsel's admitted violations of their professional duties and obligations?
5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it ordered sanctions against Cleaver-Brooks, including (a) its decision to sanction Cleaver-Brooks twice for the same alleged conduct, and (b) when it issued sanctions without a legitimate evidentiary basis to support the terms of those sanctions?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The trial court's sanctions order reads like pure fiction. Cleaver-Brooks is still at a loss as to the basis for the order, as the trial court did not identify anything at all in the record that could possibly support any kind of sanction, much less an award to plaintiffs' counsel for over \$300,000. The complete history of the case is critical to recognizing just how far the trial court has departed from the actual record below when it issued its sanctions order. To summarize:

Before the plaintiffs attempted a failed "Matlock Moment" at trial, this case was always about one issue: the location of a single Cleaver-Brooks boiler at the Bowater Paper Mill. That sole issue drove all discovery and pretrial litigation.

At trial, though, the plaintiffs relied on a typographical error in a vendor's documents to suggest during questioning a third-party witness that there may have been a second Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater. Cleaver-Brooks immediately located and produced that same day records making clear that the so-called second boiler was actually in Illinois, not at Bowater. The trial court refused to allow Cleaver-Brooks to admit those records into evidence even though the plaintiffs elicited testimony about the records and the second boiler. The jury returned a verdict in Cleaver-Brooks's favor anyway.

The trial court then sanctioned Cleaver-Brooks for over \$300,000 in attorneys' fees and costs for not producing those documents earlier. It issued this sanction even though those documents were never the subject of a discovery request or a deposition question. It issued this sanction even though the idea that there were multiple Cleaver-Brooks boilers at Bowater had never been part of the case until the plaintiffs' in-trial questioning of a third-party witness. The record in no way supports that sanctions order, as detailed below.

**I. Cleaver-Brooks denied from the outset that Mr. Howe was exposed to any asbestos-containing Cleaver-Brooks product.**

Mr. and Mrs. Howe filed this case on November 6, 2015, alleging that Mr. Howe developed mesothelioma resulting from exposure to asbestos at a variety of locations and from a variety of products. (R. pp. 33–69; Compl. *passim*.) Mr. Howe passed away during the pendency of the litigation. On September 23, 2016, the complaint was amended to add Mr. Howe’s son as a plaintiff both in his individual capacity and as the personal representative of Mr. Howe’s estate. (R. pp. 85–114; First Am. Compl. *passim*.)

Cleaver-Brooks manufactures boilers and boiler-room systems, and it was identified as a defendant in both the initial and the amended complaints. In its responsive pleadings, it consistently denied that Mr. Howe was ever exposed to any asbestos-containing product that Cleaver-Brooks manufactured or distributed. (*E.g.*, R. p. 76; Cleaver-Brooks Ans. to Compl. ¶ 40; R. p. 122; Cleaver-Brooks Ans. to First Am. Compl. ¶ 48.)

**II. Mr. Howe asserted that he was exposed to asbestos at the Bowater Paper Mill, so Cleaver-Brooks timely produced all of its documents regarding the single boiler that it shipped to that location.**

Discovery commenced, during which Mr. Howe alleged that he was exposed to asbestos while working at the Bowater Paper Mill in Rock Hill, South Carolina. (R. p. 1582; Plaintiffs’ Answers to Master Interrogatories and Requests for Disclosures at Answer to Interrogatory 4.) Before his death, Mr. Howe testified that while on site at Bowater, he only worked on boilers located in the powerhouse, not in any other buildings or facilities on the Bowater campus. (R. p. 1189; Howe Dep. 35:18–21.)

Accordingly, Cleaver-Brooks produced all of its records regarding the boiler that it shipped to the Bowater Paper Mill in 1957, which was identified as Boiler Unit Number O-18343. (R. pp. 678–738; Cleaver-Brooks Records for Boiler at “Bowater–Carolina Corporation”

(BPM 0001–61).) Cleaver-Brooks’s corporate representative testified that he determined which boiler was shipped to Bowater by searching a set of index cards that the company maintains listing what boilers are shipped to what locations. These cards are “kept alphabetically by the job site name.” (R. p. 1232; Tornetta Dep. 26:23–24 (Feb. 2, 2018).)

The job-site index card also lists by unit number which boiler or boilers were shipped to a particular job site. (R. p. 1232; *id.* 27:2–10.) Once the company identifies the relevant unit number, it can then access the commercial records regarding the relevant boiler on microfiche. (R. p. 1232; *id.* 27:11–18.)

That is how Cleaver-Brooks identified Boiler Unit Number O-18343 as the boiler it shipped to Bowater, and it is how Cleaver-Brooks secured the relevant, responsive records regarding that boiler to produce to the plaintiffs here. (R. pp. 1233, 1235; *id.* 31:22–32:6, 48:13–15.)

**III. Litigation then focused exclusively on the location of the single Cleaver-Brooks boiler at the Bowater Paper Mill, without any suggestion of there being multiple Cleaver-Brooks boilers at Bowater.**

Because of Mr. Howe’s own testimony and discovery responses, the remainder of the litigation focused on the location of the Cleaver-Brooks boiler at the Bowater Paper Mill: was that boiler located in the powerhouse, where Mr. Howe claimed to have worked, or was it somewhere else on the Bowater campus?

There was never any pretrial suggestion that Cleaver-Brooks had really shipped multiple boilers to Bowater. Below are pages and pages of examples of the parties’ repeated, uniform representations regarding the source of their factual dispute.

**A. January 22nd: Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Protective Order**

Despite the narrow question of the location of a Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater, the plaintiffs served Cleaver-Brooks with an extremely broad Rule 30(b)(6) deposition notice. Cleaver-Brooks sought a protective order regarding the overbreadth of that notice. (R. p. 868; Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Protective Order.) In that motion, Cleaver-Brooks noted the limited scope of its dispute with the plaintiffs:

Cleaver-Brooks manufactures boilers. Plaintiffs have alleged that Cleaver-Brooks manufactured a boiler used at the Bowater Paper Mill in Rock Hill/Catawba, South Carolina which contained asbestos to which the Plaintiff was exposed, and which exposure contributed to his alleged asbestos related injuries.

\*\*\*

On January 11, 2018, counsel for Cleaver-Brooks produced a collection of documents regarding its shipment of a boiler to the Bowater Paper Mill, pursuant to an agreement with Plaintiffs' counsel.

(R. pp. 869–70; *id.* at 1–2 (emphasis added).)

**B. January 24th: Hearing on Discovery Issues**

On January 24, 2018, the circuit court held a hearing regarding a host of discovery issues in several cases involving myriad parties. During the portion of that hearing concerning the *Howe* case, the plaintiffs' national counsel reiterated time after time that the dispute with Cleaver-Brooks involved the location of a single boiler at Bowater:

In the last forty-eight hours, I was able to review Cleaver-Brooks's documents that I didn't get for fourteen months and I believe I should have that shows that Daniels was involved with installing their boiler at Bowater.

(R. p. 602; Hr'g Tr. 37:1–5 (Jan. 24, 2018) (remarks of Ms. Dean) (emphasis added).)

No one knew Cleaver boilers, but we had several people saying that he [*i.e.* Mr. Howe] worked—this is in terms of Bowater location. He worked on all the boilers in the powerhouse. I learned in January on[e] of the boilers sold to Bowater was Cleaver-Brooks.

(R. p. 622; *id.* 57:8–13 (remarks of Ms. Dean) (emphasis added).)

Counsel for Cleaver-Brooks also confirmed the limited nature of the dispute between Cleaver-Brooks and the plaintiffs:

Ms. Dean is correct. We have largely resolved the issue. Cleaver-Brooks searched their records and they did determine that they shipped a boiler to the Bowater Papermill in Catawba, South Carolina. It is a very small boiler and our information, based on several other things that are not up for dispute today but just for some context, is that that boiler was never in the powerhouse at Bowater.

(R. p. 623; *id.* 58:4–11 (remarks of Mr. Thoensen) (emphasis added).) The plaintiffs never objected to, corrected, or otherwise suggested disagreement with this recitation of the case.

**C. February 2nd: First Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition of Cleaver-Brooks**

On February 2, 2018, the plaintiffs deposed Cleaver-Brooks’s Rule 30(b)(6) designee for the first time. Once again, national counsel for the plaintiffs confirmed over and over again that the dispute between the parties involved the location of a single Cleaver-Brooks boiler at the Bowater Paper Mill:

Q: And you know that there’s a Cleaver—or was a Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater?

A: Yes. I think we found a small 30 horsepower Progress model package boiler shipped in 1957.

Q: And do you know where that boiler was located at Bowater?

A: Specifically on the site or what building, I couldn’t find anything in our records that indicated specifically where it was, no.

(R. p. 1230; Tornetta Dep. 9:13–21 (Feb. 2, 2018) (emphasis added).)

Q: So Cleaver-Brooks’ records verifies that there is a Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater?

[objection of counsel]

A: I guess I'd say our records verify that we shipped a boiler there and it was started up. It certainly doesn't verify how long it was there, although I think there's some records that show some interaction in the '60s. But beyond that, I couldn't say when it was there or when it wasn't there.

Q: And you can confirm that asbestos was used on this specific boiler that was shipped to Bowater?

[objection of counsel]

A: Certainly there were components inside the boiler, but as we talked about earlier, when we're talking about on the outside of the boiler, I would have to say no.

Q: So you can confirm for me that asbestos-containing products were used on the inside of this boiler?

A: When it was shipped, I believe some of the components had asbestos as part of the makeup of the component, yes.

(R. p. 1234; *id.* 42:21–43:21 (emphasis added).)

Q: Other than those documents that we've just marked as Exhibits 4 through 7, are there any other documents in Cleaver-Brooks's possession related specifically to the boiler at Bowater?

[objection of counsel]

A: So other than that, yes—or, no, there are not any more documents related to the Progress model whatever unit number we're dealing with, unit number O-18343 that we show shipping to Bowater's Carolina Corporation, Catawba, South Carolina.

(R. p. 1234; *id.* 44:18–45:9 (emphasis added).)

Q: Do you have an opinion as to where it was located in the plant?

A: I think that's what I just gave you. I—my opinion would be it being in the powerhouse would be highly, highly unlikely. *I guess we could ask the Bowater people if they have any testimony about that.*

(R. p. 1239; *id.* 120:14–19 (emphasis added).)

As the plaintiffs' national counsel tediously went through Cleaver-Brooks's records with its designee, she confirmed that the records all related to a single boiler:

Q: We're still talking about the same 15-pound steam boiler, correct?

A: Correct.

(R. p. 1612; *id.* 67:9–11 (emphasis added).)

Q: This blueprint applies to the boiler that was sent to Bowater?

A: Correct.

(R. p. 1613; *id.* 72:12–14 (emphasis added).)

Q: Okay. And Cleaver-Brooks doesn't have any other records related to this specific boiler that is has not produced, correct?

[objection of counsel]

A: Correct. . . .

(R. p. 1238; *id.* 115:14–25 (emphasis added).)

#### **D. February 6th: Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Summary Judgment**

Following the deposition of its corporate representative, Cleaver-Brooks moved for summary judgment on grounds that there was no evidence that Mr. Howe had ever worked around a Cleaver-Brooks boiler. In particular, Cleaver-Brooks argued as follows: "Also, Howe testified that all of the boilers that he worked on at Bowater were in the power house, and the evidence shows that the Cleaver-Brooks boiler shipped to Bowater in 1957 was not in the power house." (R. p. 1085; Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Summary Judgment at 8 (emphasis added).)

#### **E. February 21st: Plaintiffs' Opposition to Summary Judgment**

The plaintiffs opposed Cleaver-Brooks's motion for summary judgment. In their written argument, they again confirmed that the dispute was about the location of a single Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater:

Cleaver-Brooks has admitted that its boilers, like the boiler shipped to Bowater in 1957, had asbestos-containing components. Additionally, Cleaver-Brooks confirmed that the specifications for the boiler located at Bowater called for the boiler to be insulated. . . . Plaintiffs submit that the exhibit [*i.e.* a boiler inspection report], in fact, supports Wayne Howe and Gilbert Small's testimony as the exhibit shows that during the time that Cleaver-Brooks insists that it shipped its boiler to Bowater, the only boilers at Bowater were located in the powerhouse.

(R. p. 1130; Plaintiffs' Response in Opposition to Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Summary Judgment at 11 (emphasis added).)

**F. March 6th: Second Rule 30(b)(6) Deposition of Cleaver-Brooks**

Before the summary judgment motion could be heard, the plaintiffs re-deposed Cleaver-Brooks's corporate representative. Yet again, the plaintiffs focused on the location of a single Cleaver-Brooks boiler on the Bowater campus:

Q: All right. The Cleaver-Brooks boiler that was supplied to the Bowater paper mill, do you know where at the Bowater facility that boiler was installed?

[objection of counsel]

A: I would have to look, but if I recall, my last deposition, I don't think there was a way we could tell from our records where it was. It was a—but I can't even off the top of my head. I didn't look at it very much before this, but I think it was a relatively small firetube boiler.

(R. p. 1260; Tornetta Dep. 227:1–12 (Mar. 6, 2018) (emphasis added).)

Q: Short story shorter, you don't know where at Bowater the Cleaver-Brooks boiler was installed. True?

[objection of counsel]

A: I don't have a definitive way to determine that in our records, no.

(R. p. 1260; *id.* 228:13–18 (emphasis added).)

Q: All right. There really is no dispute that the Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater contained asbestos-containing cement, asbestos-containing gasket material, and asbestos-containing rope. Correct?

[objection of counsel]

A: Correct. I believe it's called out, all three of those items.

(R. p. 1264; *id.* 246:15–22 (emphasis added).)

Q: Do you know what the boiler Cleaver-Brooks supplied to Bowater was used for?

A: I don't think I found anything in the records that gave me a direct indication of that I think I looked at during the last deposition. It is one of the smallest boilers we make.

(R. p. 1266; *id.* 253:7–12 (emphasis supplied).)

**G. March 8th: Plaintiffs' "Supplemental Response" in Opposition to Summary Judgment**

Following its second deposition of Cleaver-Brooks, the plaintiffs filed a second memorandum in opposition to Cleaver-Brooks's motion for summary judgment. In it, the plaintiffs again made clear their belief that the factual dispute that should preempt summary judgment involved the location of a single boiler at the Bowater facility:

Not only could Cleaver-Brooks not testify as to where the boiler at Bowater was located, Mr. Tornetta confirmed that the Cleaver-Brooks boiler located at Bowater contained asbestos-containing cement, asbestos-containing gasket material, and asbestos-containing rope.

(R. p. 1135; Plaintiffs' Supplemental Response in Opposition to Cleaver-Brooks's Motion for Summary Judgment at 4 (emphasis added).)

As has become their practice in virtually every case pending in the asbestos docket, the plaintiffs' counsel incorrectly claimed that Cleaver-Brooks had not made a complete production in other cases and sought sanctions for an alleged discovery violation. As their requested sanction, the plaintiffs asked the trial court to relieve them of their burden of proof in this case:

Wayne Howe was exposed to asbestos attributable to Cleaver-Brooks from asbestos-containing component parts, including gaskets, insulation and Vee Block mix, found on the Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater located in the power house.

(R. p. 1144; *id.* at 13 (emphasis added).)

#### H. March 9th: Hearing on Summary Judgment

The trial court heard Cleaver-Brooks's motion for summary judgment on March 9, 2018, the last business day before trial. During that hearing, the plaintiffs reiterated that they wanted the court to declare a presumption in their favor with respect to the only factual dispute:

You'll see for *Howe*, it's just limited to a presumption that the boiler is in the power house and/or we're going to ask to be able to use this late-identified [by the plaintiffs] witnesses.

(R. p. 634; Hr'g Tr. 18:16–19 (Mar. 9, 2018) (remarks of Ms. Dean) (emphasis added).)

After hearing arguments of counsel, the trial court clearly recognized the limited scope of the only factual dispute between the parties. As it summarized:

Well, Ms. Dean, Ms. Dean, this is a dispute between—you don't have anything from anybody on a piece of paper that says where it's located, nor do they. You have got a witness that you found who says that it was in the power house, and they've got written material from the boiler inspection people at the state and some other testimony of the Bowater's corporate rep which you all are relying on for location in a lot of places where the defendants don't know where it is that says it's in the admin building. So, it's just a simple factual dispute between the two of y'all as to where this boiler is located. They're not disputing it was sold. They are saying that all their—they don't have any records, they say, that say the location, just a sales thing, and they say it's in the admin.

(R. p. 641; *id.* 25:6–20 (remarks of Judge Toal) (emphasis added).)

Thus, on the eve of trial, everyone—the plaintiffs, Cleaver-Brooks, and even the trial judge—acknowledged that the parties were going to have a jury trial regarding the location of the Cleaver-Brooks boiler on the Bowater campus. If it was in the powerhouse, then the plaintiffs would win. If it was elsewhere on the Bowater campus, then Cleaver-Brooks would win.

IV. During trial, the plaintiffs attempted to ambush Cleaver-Brooks with a never-before-disclosed suggestion that there were multiple Cleaver-Brooks boilers at Bowater, but Cleaver-Brooks immediately produced records debunking that theory.

A. March 12th: Trial started, and a third-party produced documents destroying the plaintiffs' case.

Trial began on March 12, 2018. During the plaintiffs' opening statement, they reinforced exactly what they had always told the trial court and Cleaver-Brooks: this case was about whether a Cleaver-Brooks boiler was in the Bowater powerhouse where Mr. Howe had worked.

As the plaintiffs' national counsel told the jury:

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