THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Jean H. Toal
Acting Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000164
Circuit Court Case No. 2015-CP-46-3456

RECEIVED
JUN 19 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Timothy W. Howe, Individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of Wayne Erwin Howe, Deceased, and Jeanette Howe,

Respondents,

V.

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court's sanctions order is consistent with the history of the case.

Cleaver-Brooks' primary argument is that Plaintiffs were at fault in declining to reveal their trial strategy before the time of trial. Cleaver-Brooks offers no law supporting such claim, because there is none. It was not Plaintiffs' duty to disclose to Cleaver-Brooks Plaintiffs' trial strategy before trial, nor was it Plaintiffs' responsibility to educate Cleaver-Brooks as to how to read its own files, which formed the basis of Plaintiffs' trial strategy. That is, Plaintiffs developed their trial strategy based on Cleaver-Brooks' Bowater file, and Cleaver-Brooks was equally capable of reviewing and interpreting its own file. Its failure to do so until midway through trial is not an error of Plaintiffs' making. Cleaver Brook's theory that they were a victim of a trial surprise rests on the idea that it was surprised by Plaintiffs' understanding of its records, which were not novel but based on testimony of Cleaver-Brooks' representative that each unit number represented a separate boiler. Plaintiffs had no basis in testimony or records to surmise a mistake was made and repeated multiple times in Cleaver-Brooks' records. Claiming it was a typo/mistake acknowledges that Plaintiffs' reading of Cleaver-Brooks' records would normally be accurate. There was no testimony or records to suggest a mistake at the start of trial. Rather records were

produced well into trial and the testimony about the typos provided on the stand, with no notice.

Nor did Plaintiffs engage in a “sneak attack” “in the middle of trial,” as Cleaver-Brooks complains. App. Br. at 28. Cleaver-Brooks had access to its file long before Plaintiffs did, and indeed refused to disclose its file until two years into the litigation. Cleaver-Brooks then refused to disclose other evidence, such as the index cards, until the middle of trial, when it was helpful to Cleaver-Brooks. Of course, this evidence should have been produced far earlier in response to discovery requests. Even if it was appropriate for Cleaver-Brooks to withhold this evidence until trial, it could have produced it immediately following opening statements, when Plaintiffs made it clear that they believed more than one boiler was at Bowater. (R. 139 at 12 (“the specific boilers in this case sold by Cleaver-Brooks”) (emphasis added).) Cleaver-Brooks’ counsel clearly recognized Plaintiffs’ argument, as they too referred to “boilers” plural during their opening statement, thus confirming Plaintiffs’ understanding that there was more than one Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater. (R. 170 at 5 (“Cleaver-Brooks boilers sold to the Bowater Paper Mill” (emphasis added).) It was Cleaver-Brooks, not Plaintiffs, that engaged in a “sneak attack” “in the middle of trial” in the late production of the documents and new testimony of its representative that the records were mistaken.

Citing its own statements that only one Cleaver-Brooks boiler at Bowater was at issue, Cleaver-Brooks claims that Plaintiffs should have “corrected Cleaver-Brooks’s statements and made clear that the case was really about multiple boilers.” App. Br. at 26. Cleaver-Brooks cites no law for its proposition that a plaintiff must disclose its trial strategy before trial. In *Sessions v. Withers*, 327 S.C. 409, 415, 488 S.E.2d 888, 892 (Ct. App. 1997), the court explained that “a plaintiff must be allowed to control his own case and choose what claims will be presented and how they will be presented to the jury.” That includes developing his trial strategy, when and how

plaintiff sees fit. Other courts have elaborated on this premise.

Courts unequivocally acknowledge that parties have a strong interest in protecting their trial strategy. Courts have emphasized that “once the lawsuit is filed, the waiver of work-product protection ends. This temporal limitation flows from the enhanced interest in protecting against disclosure of trial strategy and planning.” *JJK Mineral Co., LLC v. Swiger*, 292 F.R.D. 323, 337 (N.D.W. Va. 2013) (citing *Dunhall Pharm., Inc. v. Discus Dental*, 994 F. Supp. 1202, 1206 (C.D. Cal.1998)). A party’s case strategy is so elementally un-discoverable that it is considered “pure” attorney work product. *Nutramax Labs., Inc. v. Twin Labs. Inc.*, 183 F.R.D. 458, 470 (D. Md. 1998). As the Fourth Circuit has recognized, forcing a party to reveal their trial strategy during motion practice can cause actual prejudice. *Forrester v. Penn Lyon Homes, Inc.*, 553 F.3d 340, 343 (4th Cir. 2009).

Contrary to Cleaver-Brooks’ assumption that Plaintiffs should have raised their “double boiler” theory during discovery, the evidence that a party develops during discovery may differ from the evidence that a party presents at trial. As one court explained, “[i]t also must be recognized that evidence presented at trial is often not what a party wants to disclose voluntarily during discovery.” *Lucas v. Pactiv Corp.*, No. CIV. 5:08CV00079, 2009 WL 5197838, at *3 (W.D. Va. Dec. 22, 2009). “Simply put, the purpose of discovery is to ascertain facts, whereas the purpose of trial is to prove or disprove the various allegations and defenses presented in the pleadings.” *Id.* Plaintiffs were entitled to use discovery to ascertain facts regarding Cleaver-Brooks’ boilers at Bowater even without educating Cleaver-Brooks on how to read its own Bowater file. Plaintiffs were also entitled to expect that Cleaver-Brooks would comply with the rules and produce the documents requested, not hide them away in Mr. Tornetta’s office.

In this case, the nature and content of Cleaver-Brooks’ Bowater file was useful to Plaintiffs

not just for trial strategy but also as a cross-examination point against Mr. Tornetta. Like a plaintiff's trial strategy, cross-examination points need not be revealed until trial. Indeed, a party may have competing trial strategies, including whether or not to cross-examine a witness at all. *See Ohler v. United States*, 529 U.S. 753, 758 (2000).

Here, Cleaver-Brooks cannot escape sanctions by questioning Plaintiffs' trial strategy or arguing that it should have been disclosed before trial. Cleaver-Brooks argued before the circuit court that Plaintiffs had every opportunity to take discovery to resolve any confusion regarding the unit numbers in the Bowater file. This summarizes the problem: Plaintiffs had no inkling that there was any such confusion, particularly since Cleaver-Brooks had produced the Bowater-specific file in response to discovery requests specific to Bowater. While faulting Plaintiffs for failing to recognize confusion in its own file, Cleaver-Brooks simultaneously admitted that it too failed to recognize such confusion, did not do so until trial and then only in response to questioning by Plaintiffs.

Cleaver-Brooks cites no authority for its premise that it can escape sanctions for its failure to abide by the discovery rules because it disagreed with Plaintiffs' trial strategy. Plaintiffs gave Cleaver-Brooks' representative every opportunity to explain its files during both of his depositions. (R. 1230 at 9:17-21, R. 1232 at 26:8-28:11, R. 1234 at 45:2-5, R. 1236 at 50:11-20, R. 1236 at 53:7-12, R. 1237 at 59:4-11, R. 1260 at 228:4-18.) Plaintiffs raised their theory that there was more than one boiler at Bowater during opening statements. (R. 139:12.) Yet Cleaver-Brooks waited days, until the eve of Mr. Tornetta's testimony, to double-check its files. This is conduct eligible for sanctions.

In response to Plaintiffs' motion to exclude the midnight documents, the circuit court noted that Plaintiffs were under no obligation to reveal their trial strategy regarding the two boilers at Bowater earlier than they had:

What they say is they noticed that disparity and they are the kind of lawyers that do notice those kinds of things. I don't think they're obligated to tell y'all that. They had one little old something that they were going to hang their hat on to say, "Hey, there were two boilers here," and did a good job of elucidating that theory yesterday, and I think **they were entitled to do that without violating the rules of having to disclose their theory, because you all had these records just like they did**, but the person I point the finger to big time is Mr. Tornetta for letting this occur.

(R. 367:25 - R. 368:10 (emphasis added).)

Cleaver-Brooks' production of erroneous evidence and failure to timely produce other evidence was extremely prejudicial to Plaintiffs' trial strategy and fundamentally changed the analysis of Plaintiffs' case, resulting in trial expenses and costs associated with trying a death case, the waste of judicial resources, and the squandering of citizens' time in serving on a jury. Cleaver-Brooks shrugs its shoulders and claims that it simply did not notice that two boilers were listed in the Bowater commercial file until prompted by Plaintiffs to double-check its records at trial. As a matter of policy, a party should not be rewarded for failing to examine *its own files* that it produces in discovery, making inaccurate claims about limited documents (namely that the index cards were the same as the Bowater file itself), and then profit from that failure by misleading opposing counsel.

Once Cleaver-Brooks finally noticed the error in its file and produced the documents, Mr. Tornetta admitted that they had been sitting in his office all along and that Plaintiffs had asked him for them months ago during his depositions. (R. 331:13-14, R. 341:17 – R. 342:7.) Cleaver-Brooks' lackadaisical attitude does not forgive the time and resources wasted at trial as a result of its mishandling of its own documents. The circuit court rightly found that Cleaver-Brooks'

behavior was “sloppy” and noted its corporate representative’s “dereliction.” (R. 366:20-23.) While errors happen, it is imperative that an error be both rectified in the moment and that a consequence deter such errors from happening again in the future. As the circuit court properly found, sanctions are warranted.

The sole authority Cleaver-Brooks cites in support of its main argument is *Bramlette v. Charter-Med.-Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 74, 393 S.E.2d 914, 917 (1990), which is readily distinguishable. In *Bramlette*, the supreme court found that the defendant should have been allowed to admit evidence which had not been previously disclosed to rebut new evidence presented by the plaintiff for the first time at trial. In contrast here, Cleaver-Brooks cannot cite any new evidence that Plaintiffs offered at trial, but merely complains that it did not ascertain Plaintiffs’ trial strategy before trial, which was simply to read Cleaver-Brooks’ documents in the manner that Cleaver-Brooks’ representative said they were to be read. In juxtaposition from the events in *Bramlette*, in this case it was the defendant, Cleaver-Brooks, that for the first time disclosed new evidence at trial, despite Plaintiffs’ repeated requests for that very evidence. Unlike this case, in *Bramlette* there was no abuse of the discovery process by the defendant.

After a full review of the evidence, this Court, like the circuit court, should find that Cleaver-Brooks engaged in sanctionable behavior. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in awarding fees and costs.

II. Plaintiffs did not waive any argument for sanctions.

Cleaver-Brooks argues that Plaintiffs “opened the door to Cleaver-Brooks’ production of records regarding Unit Number O-18344” by questioning Bowater’s corporate representative, Mr. Welker, and Mr. Tornetta on those records. App. Br. at 29. On the contrary, it was Cleaver-Brooks who opened the door with the production of its Bowater file which identified two separate units at

Bowater—O-18343 and O-18344. Given that the issue at trial was Cleaver-Brooks' boilers at Bowater, it was logical that Plaintiffs would raise both boilers at trial. Plaintiffs were entitled to ask witnesses about both boilers, which Cleaver-Brooks had put at issue by listing both of them in its Bowater file.

The cases Cleaver-Brooks cites for its argument that Plaintiffs somehow opened the door pertain to issues that the objecting party placed before the court, which is not the case here. *See Frazier v. Badger*, 361 S.C. 94, 104, 603 S.E.2d 587, 592 (2004) (objecting defendant "opened the door" to victim's testimony of attempted rape by introducing the nature of their relationship); *Bramlette v. Charter-Med.-Columbia*, 302 S.C. 68, 74, 393 S.E.2d 914, 917 (1990) (party introduced new evidence of employee's negligence); *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 513, 316 S.E.2d 395, 399 (1984) (where defense counsel raised issue of prior acts of theft, the State could question witness as to prior crimes involving stealing money); *State v. Worthy*, 239 S.C. 449, 464, 123 S.E.2d 835, 842 (1962), *overruled by State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) (defendant unilaterally attempted to change his plea, with no prior agreement or involvement of the State).

As a matter of policy, a party cannot produce critical documents for the first time during trial and then protest when the opposing party seeks clarifying information at trial. There were only 25 pages in Cleaver-Brooks' Bowater file, and approximately one-third pertain to the O-18344 boiler. Cleaver-Brooks waited over two years after the case had been filed to produce this file; it had ample time to inspect its own documents. Cleaver-Brooks then waited until the middle of trial to produce its index cards, which it also had ample time to inspect. Cleaver-Brooks waited until in court over half way through trial to give the opinion that its own records were riddled with mistakes. In contrast, Plaintiffs had a matter of hours between production of these "midnight

documents” and Mr. Tornetta’s testimony the next morning to assess the documents, appreciate their import, and determine what relevant information was needed from Cleaver-Brooks’ corporate representative. Plaintiffs had a matter of moments to react to the new opinion testimony of Mr. Tornetta given during trial. These acts are the definition of ambush, not waiver. (R. 362:4-16; *see also* R. 366:13-21 (also describing this as “dereliction” on the part of Cleaver-Brooks’ corporate representative).)

Mr. Tornetta’s new testimony and opinions that he had not provided at either of his two depositions. That testimony brought additional surprise, including (1) the fact that Mr. Tornetta believed the second unit number listed in the Bowater file was a typo, and (2) the second unit went to another location. This testimony was not provided in advance of trial. Cleaver-Brooks violated the rules of discovery once when it produced key documents at midnight mid-way through trial, and then again when it offered new testimony that had not been provided in advance of trial despite two depositions of its corporate representative. Cleaver-Brooks hammered home on this testimony on its examination of Tornetta and again in its closing statement. (*E.g.*, R. 554:12-15 (“Mr. Tornetta told you last week and he told you again this week that Cleaver-Brooks never denied shipping *a* boiler to Bowater in 1957”).) This was, quite clearly, trial by ambush.

It bears noting that the circuit court considered and rejected Cleaver-Brooks’ waiver argument. The court agreed there was no waiver with respect to boiler O-18344, where the only document Plaintiffs had used in questioning Mr. Tornetta was the index card for boiler O-18343, the boiler that Cleaver-Brooks agrees was at Bowater. (R. 360:24 – R. 361:16.) It was this midnight document only—pertaining to the O-18343 boiler, not the O-18344 boiler—that Plaintiffs presented to the jury.

The court further agreed that Plaintiffs had not waived an ability to seek sanctions:

MS. DEAN: . . . Your Honor, Ms. McVey had made a request on Friday that these actions were somewhat a lynch pin of our case, fundamentally fact of how we approached this trial. We want to seek -- I just want to make sure that if we seek sanctions for costs or time after trial we haven't waived anything.

THE COURT: You have already completely talked about how fundamental it was to your case so forth and so on, that is very well protected in the record as I view it.

(R. 1628:14-16.)

Cleaver-Brooks' authorities on waiver do not apply. In *State v. Burton*, 326 S.C. 605, 609, 486 S.E.2d 762, 764 (Ct. App. 1997), the defendant did not object to the expert witness testimony at trial at all. Likewise, in *Cogdill v. Watson*, 289 S.C. 531, 537, 347 S.E.2d 126, 130 (Ct. App. 1986), defense counsel failed to raise multiple objections at trial. In contrast to *Burton* and *Cogdill*, Plaintiffs objected to the new documents at trial. Plaintiffs' right to sanctions was preserved by Plaintiffs' objection to the documents following Cleaver-Brooks' motion for directed verdict (R. 358:20 – R. 369:3) and request during trial to move for sanctions at a later time (R. 1628:8-16). Plaintiffs did not waive their motion for sanctions.

III. The sanctions order is procedurally proper.

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